RECEIVED

Jun 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marion County

Honorable Michael Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRY ALLEN PAIGE, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001075

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

W. CHANDLER NORVILLE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the trial court erred by refusing to exclude vehicle location data obtained from a vehicle “infotainment” system on the ground that the process used to obtain the data is insufficiently reliable?

II. Whether the trial court erred in imposing a five-year sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime when it also imposed a life sentence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 5, 2022, the Marion County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 358-63. The case was tried on May 19, 2025, before the Honorable Michael Nettles and a jury. R. 1. Ralph Wilson, Jr., represented Appellant. R. 1. Todd Tucker represented the state. R. 1. On May 23, 2025, the jury convicted Appellant on all counts. R. 353-54. Judge Nettles sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for murder, fifteen years for burglary first, and five years for the gun charge, to run concurrently. R. 355.

This appeal follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

As to Issue I: “A trial court’s decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). “The qualification of an expert witness and the admissibility of the expert’s testimony are matters largely within the trial court’s discretion.” *State v. Harris*, 318 S.C. 178, 181, 456 S.E.2d 433, 435 (Ct. App. 1995).

As to Issue II, the trial court has broad discretion when sentencing a defendant within statutory limits. *State v. Sidell*, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974). However, the trial court abuses that discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court erred in admitting vehicle location data derived from a vehicle “infotainment” system because the process used to collect the data was insufficiently reliable.

Relevant facts

On October 25, 2023, at around 9:20 a.m., Gloria Swinton was murdered in her home. Appellant was eventually charged with her murder, and the case proceeded to trial. Appellant’s first trial ended in a mistrial after some “outburst” from a member of the decedent’s family. R. 23, ll. 8-14. The second trial began on May 19, 2025. The portion of the evidence challenged by Appellant here was technological evidence related to data downloads from a vehicle.

The technology at issue is a software program created by a corporation called Berla. R. 82-84. Essentially, the software allows police officers to download saved data from a vehicle’s “infotainment,” or “IVI” system, which was described as the “center screen that carries...anything you would see on the screen,” and interpret that data. R. 82. Berla must design different software for every single car manufacturer, because every manufacturer includes different data in their systems. R. 106, ll. 8-12.

Before trial, Appellant moved to suppress the evidence gathered from his vehicle’s infotainment system. R. 77. During a pretrial hearing, the state called Jason Morgan from the Pennsylvania State Police to testify. R. 80. Morgan was the system analyst who gathered the data from the vehicle that was presented at trial. R. 89, ll. 2-9. However, he was the second Pennsylvania police officer to do so; the original system analyst was also a Pennsylvania State Police officer who had retired since doing the data gathering, which resulted in that data being deleted. R. 89-90.

When asked about his qualifications, Morgan admitted that he had never been qualified by a court as an expert witness. R. 85, l. 2. He had no training in any sort of digital forensics, other than a week-long training required by Berla. R. 91, ll. 15-20. He had no knowledge about whether Berla's program had ever been subjected to peer review. R. 92, ll. 16-18. He knew nothing about how Berla's code works. R. 93, ll. 6-8. He knew nothing about the "debugging" procedures for that code or even what programming language Berla is written in. R. 94-96. When asked whether Berla employed write blockers—which would stop its code from being edited by anyone outside of Berla¹—Morgan responded that he did not know what write blockers were. R. 97, ll. 7-9. When asked about specific peer reviewed studies regarding Berla's software, Morgan was familiar with none. R. 97-98. Morgan was also unfamiliar with the software's error rate. R. 93.

Next, the state called Mark Restori, a former Pennsylvania State Police officer who had since retired. R. 100, ll. 7-11. Restori was the officer who downloaded the since-deleted original data from Appellant's vehicle. He testified that he had been qualified as an expert witness in the field of infotainment systems one time in a federal court in Nevada. R. 102-03. He testified that he was never made aware of any problems with the software. R. 105, ll. 1-4. When asked about peer review of Berla's software, he was not familiar with any attempts to peer review the software, other than stating that other law enforcement agencies might report to Berla if they encounter problems with the software. R. 108, 120. He had no knowledge about Berla's code or the debugging process and testified that he does not "know it deeply. That's...for the engineers

¹ For a discussion on hardware and software write-blockers, and their respective advantages and disadvantages, see Christopher S. Meffert, et al., *Deleting Collected Digital Evidence by Exploiting a Widely Adopted Hardware Write Blocker*, 18 DIGITAL INVESTIGATION 87, 88 (2016), <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diin.2016.04.004> (last accessed Dec. 1, 2025).

and people that design these systems to know.” R. 115-16. In response to examination by the trial court, he also testified that he did not know the error rate of the software. R. 124, ll. 10-13.

The trial court ruled that the evidence was admissible. R. 157. In support of its ruling, the trial court stated:

[W]e have expert testimony with regard to that, and I think that the *Daubert* standards would, indeed, apply. I think things have come out on the record that are relevant that this technology is used—according to the testimony, and it has been unrefuted—it is used worldwide. They also say that it’s used in law enforcement throughout the nation.² As far as the reliability of it, the information that comes out with regard to the data is corroborated by independent evidence...that has already been in the record about the trouble being in Dillion. He was up in Pennsylvania and/or Indiana, and he’s coming down this way, and the truck is there, which would verify that the data that is on this infotainment system is, indeed, accurate.

I do find that, in many respects, it is more reliable than the satellite location, because they at least use three different satellites. And I find it is more accurate than the cell phone locations. Also, the information with regard to the use of the phone that’s going through this system, that also corroborates the fact that the information is correct, that the truck is coming from Pennsylvania and/or Indiana down this way.

This is a little bit different in that, you know, when you talk about peer review and can these results be duplicated, I think a good example of that would be if you had a control test that, say, for instance, in a products liability case where they are saying that radar can adversely affect the cruise control in some way. Maybe there is some test to verify that. I think that would be something that needed to be tested, and could it be repeated, and if it could or could not would hinge on whether it is admissible. But this is a direct download of data. We’ve heard testimony that the only way to get the data out of there is by that chip that they put in there. And I’m not very technological savvy, but they have to put it in there. He also testified that he, nor anyone else, could put data into the system or take it out. So I think—or can be added to or deleted.

² Defense counsel asked Restori why the Marion County Sheriff’s Office needed to transport Appellant’s vehicle’s IVI system four states away to Pennsylvania if the technology was, in fact, widely accepted; Restori did not have an answer. R. 266-67.

R. 157, l. 12 – 159, l. 6. Immediately after the trial court’s ruling, defense counsel asked the trial court to declare Appellant indigent and provide him with an order for funds to hire an expert to counter the state’s. R. 159, ll. 12-16.³ Defense counsel asserted the trial court allowing the evidence in while not providing him with a counter expert would violate his rights to due process and confrontation. R. 159-62. The trial court stated that Appellant was “protected on the record” but would not make such an order. R. 162, ll. 13-22.

At trial, Restori was qualified as an expert witness, and the IVI data was permitted into evidence over Appellant’s objection. R. 249, 256. Morgan testified that Appellant’s vehicle left Lancaster, Pennsylvania at 1:17 a.m. and was tracked down Interstate 95 until it reached the decedent’s home at 9:18 a.m. on the day of the murder. R. 290-95. At 9:22 a.m., Appellant’s vehicle started again and left the decedent’s home. R. 297, l. 13. At this time, a cellphone named “Terry’s iPhone” connected to the vehicle. R. 297, ll. 16-18.

After beginning deliberations, the jury requested a printout of all infotainment data logs that were produced at trial. R. 349, ll. 2-4. Defense counsel and the state agreed that these were not in evidence, and the jury was given the PowerPoint presentation used by Morgan during his testimony. R. 351, ll. 10-13. The jury convicted Appellant on all counts. R. 353-54.

Discussion

The state did not establish that the vehicle infotainment system produced sufficiently reliable data or that its witnesses were qualified to testify about it. The evidence should have been excluded under Rule 702, SCRE.

³ This was a continuation of a request that Appellant had made of the court at any earlier time, though not on the record. *See* R. 161, ll. 17-20 (the court addresses prior *ex parte* communications with defense counsel).

“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Rule 702, SCRE. The proponent of scientific evidence must establish three elements before that evidence is admitted: (1) it will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert witness is qualified; and (3) the underlying science is reliable. *State v. Phillips*, 430 S.C. 319, 325, 844 S.E.2d 651, 654 (2020); *accord*, *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999) (both *citing* Rule 702, SCRE). When scientific evidence is sought to be presented, the trial court must make a “preliminary assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue.” *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 592-93 (1993). The trial court should employ four key factors of analysis: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” *Council*, 335 S.C. at 20, 515 S.E.2d at 517. Further, in the case of scientific techniques, “the court ordinarily should consider the known or potential rate of error.” *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 594.

Further, “the reliability of a witness’s testimony is not a prerequisite to determining whether or not the witness is an expert.” *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 388, 728 S.E.2d 468, 474 (2012). Rather, the witness’s expertise, the reliability of their process, and their ability to assist the jury are all separate threshold determinations which must be made prior to the admission of evidence. *State v. Meador*, 425 S.C. 625, 646, 825 S.E.2d 53, 65 (Ct. App. 2019).

At the outset, it is important to note the differences between Berla's software and other types of software that have been found reliable by this state's courts. At first glance, data gathered from a vehicle's IVI may appear near identical to cell site location information (CLSI). CLSI location data has been deemed reliable in South Carolina. *State v. Franks*, 432 S.C. 58, 77, 849 S.E.2d 580, 590-91 (Ct. App. 2020). But CLSI data is different from Berla's software, and in any event, the process employed by the state in *Franks* to enter the CLSI data into evidence is in stark contrast to the state's showing in this case.

In *Franks*, the state offered a Greenville County Sheriff's Office sergeant to introduce location data that he had gathered. *Id.* at 69, 849 S.E.2d at 586. The sergeant testified that he was given cell phone records in an Excel spreadsheet and then used a software called GeoTime to sort the data making it easier to read. *Id.* He also independently verified the results given to him by that software. *Id.* The *Franks* evidence was gathered by receiving records of phone calls. *Id.* When phone calls are made, they connect to the nearest cell tower, which is located at a fixed, known location. *Id.*; Kevin McLaughlin, *The Fourth Amendment and Cell Phone Location Tracking: Where are We*, 29 HASTINGS COMM. & ENT. L. J. 421, 426 (2007) (explaining how cellular "triangulation" works). By contrast, IVI data uses satellites—which are not at fixed locations—to determine the location of a moving vehicle. R. 158. This is entirely different, because cell phone tower location is "uninterrupted." McLaughlin, *supra* at 426. As long as a person is speaking on the phone, that phone is connected to a cell tower. *Id.* IVI data, on the other hand, is not uninterrupted and can be affected by satellites being out of position or even driving in large cities with several tall buildings. Further, the CLSI data in *Franks* was further put through another program, "Esri," which was created by the wireless provider itself for the purpose of mapping coordinates. 432 S.C. at 70, 849 S.E.2d at 586. The employ of software

created by the same company that stores the CLSI to map the CLSI is an entirely different question than the use of outside, proprietary data to pull information off of a vehicle's IVI system.

The Berla software data utilized in this case was not established to be reliable, and the trial court abused its discretion in failing to exclude it for two reasons. First, the trial court was not presented with any evidence by which it could have made a proper reliability determination under the four-factor *Council* test. Second, software using proprietary source code, when entered through expert witnesses who have never seen that source code, much less understand it, should be considered inherently unreliable.

A. The trial court was not presented with evidence sufficient to find the evidence reliable under *Council*.

Council requires that the trial court should typically employ four key factors of analysis: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” *Council*, 335 S.C. at 20, 515 S.E.2d at 517. Further, to the extent that the Supreme Court has partially adopted *Daubert*, the trial court should also have been apprised of “the known or potential rate of error.” *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 594.⁴ The state's witnesses established zero of these elements.

⁴ In *State v. Phillips*, our Supreme Court made numerous references to a “*Daubert/Council* hearing.” See 430 S.C. at 341, 343, 844 S.E.2d at 662-63. Appellant submits this means one of two things. First, it could mean that the Supreme Court recognized that the *Daubert* and *Council* standards were so similar to each other as to obviate the need to distinguish between them. Second, it could mean, as two of the justices believed, that the Supreme Court was implicitly adopting *Daubert*. *Phillips*, 430 S.C. at 344, 844 S.E.2d at 664 (Beatty, C.J., concurring in the judgment, joined by Hearn, J. (“the majority’s instruction regarding a ‘*Daubert/Council*’ hearing is confusing and constitutes an implicit adoption of *Daubert*”). This question need not be

Peer review and publications of the technique. Neither Morgan nor Restori was familiar with any attempt to peer review Berla's software. In fact, Restori suggested that the "peer review" process was law enforcement agencies notifying Berla when they encountered a problem. This is not peer review. Peer review requires review by *peers*—other *experts* in the same field. *See, e.g., Peer Review, MERRIAM-WEBSTER COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY* (11th ed. 2003). Neither witness could identify any peer review study that had ever been conducted on Berla's software, and when confronted by defense counsel with—purported—peer reviews of the Berla software, neither had ever heard of them.

Prior application of the method to the type of evidence in the case. Restori testified that he had performed "hundreds" of prior data extractions using the Berla software. However, this testimony is insufficient to establish that he has previously applied the specific method in this case to the specific evidence in this case a significant number of times. The testimony was that every single car manufacturer creates their IVI systems differently, meaning that Berla must create different software for every individual make and model of vehicle. R. 106. It is not clear what the differences between the different software are, because neither of the state's purported experts testified to that effect.

Further, the fact that the software has been used several times before does not, on its own, grant the software reliability. Several other types of scientific methods are frequently used in a variety of contexts yet are still deemed unreliable under Rule 702. *See, e.g., Matter of the Care and Treatment of Bilton*, 432 S.C. 157, 851 S.E.2d 442 (Ct. App. 2020) (penile plethysmograph

addressed in this case. The only portion of the *Daubert* standard that truly diverges from the *Council* standard is the rule that the trial court should generally consider the error rate of any potential scientific procedures. The trial court understood this to be the law of South Carolina, as it both inquired about the error rate and stated explicitly that it was ruling under *Daubert*. R. 157 ("I think that the *Daubert* standards would, indeed, apply").

evidence unreliable despite frequent use as treatment tool); *United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303 (1998) (polygraph unreliable despite frequent use by government as national security tool).

Quality control procedures used to ensure reliability. Neither of the state's witnesses who testified about the Berla software provided any testimony that could have shown the trial court that Berla is subjected to reliable quality control procedures. As already mentioned, neither witness could testify about whether Berla used write-blockers in its software. Write-blockers are enormously important to any computer programming, because they protect the integrity of the data thereon. Meffert, et al., *supra*, 18 DIGITAL INVESTIGATION at 88. Due to their importance, write-blockers are frequently deployed by experts in digital forensics around the nation. *See, e.g., Solon v. United States*, Case No. 2:11-cv-303-CAB, 2013 WL 12321956 at *33 (D. Wyo. May 24, 2013) (federal agent's testimony regarding using write-blockers in CSAM detecting software as a matter of course). And even when write-blockers are used, if programmers are not careful, malicious actors can wreak havoc on stored data by tricks so simple as sending the law enforcement agencies that use Berla an email with a malicious link. Meffert, et al., *supra*, 18 DIGITAL INVESTIGATION at 93. Data could be "easily" modified by a malicious actor, and "it will be difficult for the devices to detect the modification." Yeonghun Shin, et al., *Digital Forensics Case Studies for In-Vehicle Infotainment Systems Using Android Auto and Apple CarPlay*, 22 SENSORS 7196, 7197 (2022), <https://doi.org/10.3390/s22197196> (last accessed Dec. 1, 2025). Since, like the state's witnesses here, "many law enforcement agency practitioners have only received training for using digital forensic tools and many do not possess a background in cyber security and/or computing," the potential for these threats compromising evidentiary data while

going entirely unnoticed is far too high to consider such evidence “reliable.” Meffert, et al., *supra*, 18 DIGITAL INVESTIGATION at 93.⁵

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