RECEIVED

Jun 03 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY
Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001075

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

TERRY ALLEN PAIGE, JR.,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P. SANDERS LINKER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0918

EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 North Irby Street
Florence, SC 29501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

For these reasons, I believe that it is admissible. And, once again, you have done a great job of putting it on the record, and you are protected on the record in all respects.

(R. p. 157, ln. 12—R. p. 159, ln. 10) (emphasis added).

When Restori later testified before the jury, Appellant renewed his objection to the testimony after the trial court found Restori qualified as an expert. (R. p. 249). Restori and Morgan both testified similarly as they did pre-trial. (R. pp. 241–300).

B. Discussion

Rule 702 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence governs the admission of expert testimony at trial. As explained by our supreme court recently in *State v. Phillips, Council* was the first test case for Rule 702, which was itself new as part of South Carolina’s new rules of evidence. 430 S.C. 319, 325, 844 S.E.2d 651, 654 (2020). *Council* “set forth what has become the standard South Carolina formulation of the elements of the foundation for scientific evidence under Rule 702.” *Phillips*, 430 S.C. at 325, 844 S.E.2d at 654. Thus, when admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, “the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” *Council*, 335 S.C. at 20, 515 S.E.2d at 518. In assessing reliability, the trial court must assess “the degree to which the trier of fact must accept, on faith, scientific hypotheses not capable of proof or disproof in court and not even generally accepted outside the courtroom.” *State v. Jones*, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979) (quoting *People v. Marx*, 54 Cal.App.3d 100, 126 Cal.Rptr. 350 (1975)) (internal quotations omitted). The trial court must determine that the expert’s method is reliable and that the substance of the expert’s testimony is reliable. *State v. Moorer*, 439 S.C. 525, 544, 888 S.E.2d 725, 734 (Ct. App. 2023).

The *Council/Jones* standard has been further articulated as four factors trial courts must assess: “(1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.” *Council*, 335 S.C. at 20, 515 S.E.2d at 517 (citing *State v. Ford*, 301 S.C. 485, 392 S.E.2d 781 (1990)). These same reliability standards apply to nonscientific but nonetheless technical or otherwise specialized expert testimony. *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 269–71, 676 S.E.2d 684,

686–87 (2009) (citing *Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 147 (1999)). To the extent Appellant argues that the reliability factors of *Daubert*⁶ apply in South Carolina rather than the *Council/Jones* factors as evidenced by the *Phillips* majority’s referral to “*Daubert/Council* hearings,” Respondent contends this is plainly dicta and only the factors from *Council/Jones* apply as a matter of state law. See *Phillips*, 430 S.C. at 343–45, 844 S.E.2d at 664–65 (Beatty, C.J., concurring in result joined by Hearn, J.). As a reminder, the assessment of reliability as a threshold inquiry should not be conflated with the assessment of credibility or whether the expert testimony is ultimately determinative to the issue(s) at trial. That is the jury’s job:

As long as the trial court is satisfied the expert’s testimony consists of *a reliable method faithfully and reliably applied, the gate of admissibility should be opened*. The correctness of the conclusion reached by an expert’s faithful application of a reliable method (and the credibility of the expert who reached it) is for the jury, for the trial judge must remain at the gatepost and not tread on the advocate’s or the jury’s turf.

Moorer, 439 S.C. at 545, 888 S.E.2d at 735 (emphasis added) (citing *State v. Jones*, 423 S.C. 631, 639–40, 817 S.E.2d 268, 272 (2018) (“There is always a possibility that an expert witness’s opinions are incorrect. However, whether to accept the expert’s opinions or not is a matter for the jury to decide. Trial courts *are tasked only with determining whether the basis for the expert’s opinion is sufficiently reliable* such that it be may offered into evidence.”)) (emphasis added); see also *State v. Rowland*, 444 S.C. 84, 103, 902 S.E.2d 825, 835 (Ct. App. 2024) (Trial court is not required to decide if expert’s testimony is “correct.”).

In this case, the trial court properly exercised its gatekeeping responsibility in finding Restori qualified as an expert witness and in finding the process used to obtain the infotainment data reliable. Appellant’s arguments to the contrary primarily take issue with the fact that Morgan

⁶ *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

and Restori could not testify to the exact programming or internal workings of the IVI software while ignoring the unrefuted testimony demonstrating success with Berla's data extraction process, especially as to the facts of this case.

Both Morgan and Restori testified to attending an initial week-long training with Berla followed by yearly recertification/testing and monthly/quarterly training regarding updates or new developments with the process. Morgan and Restori collectively processed "hundreds" of infotainment systems using the Berla process. (R. pp. 84, 98, 101, 105, 243). And while Morgan had not testified as an expert before (and in fact was not admitted as an expert in this case), Restori previously testified as an expert witness on the process in a federal homicide trial in Las Vegas, Nevada. (R. pp. 101–103, 248). Accordingly, based on the testimony presented both pre-trial and before the jury, the trial court properly found that Restori was qualified to testify as an expert witness on infotainment data recovery given his training and requisite experience. *See State v. Franks*, 432 S.C. 58, 76, 849 S.E.2d 580, 590 (Ct. App. 2024) (trial court properly found officer qualified to testify as expert on cell location technology where officer had fifteen years of experience and used it in over fifty cases). As to reliability of the underlying process, consider the four *Council/Jones* factors.

First, while the Berla process may have not had "peer review" in the formal, academic sense, Morgan and Restori's testimony clearly show that the process is used and relied upon by law enforcement agencies not only across the nation, but also across the world to extract data from vehicle infotainment systems. Restori further emphasized that law enforcement agencies who use Berla do not operate within a vacuum. Rather, Berla encourages and facilitates continual, ongoing refining and development of the process—including not only the monthly/quarterly trainings regarding new information but also taking insights or new developments directly from law

enforcement regarding the data extraction process, with Restori describing how the process to take data from a new vehicle (in the sense of not having had data extracted from it before) is shared back to Berla to update their “database.” (*See* R. pp. 122–124). Berla also continually develops new processes, such as new “dibs” or software updates to support different vehicle systems. Both Morgan and Restori continually emphasized they were unaware of any systemic issues with the process and that, if there were problems, Berla would be notified so the problem could be fixed. (R. pp. 108–109, 111). The trial court explicitly noted in its ruling that it was “unrefuted” that the process is used worldwide. (R. p. 157).

Second, Morgan and Restori collectively testified to “hundreds” of successful applications of the Berla process to extract data, including location data, from vehicle infotainment systems. (R. pp. 84, 98, 101, 105, 243). Moreover, as discussed above, Restori testified to the use of Berla by “thousands” of agencies across the world, all of which assumingly use the process for similar applications with similarly successful results. (R. pp. 107–108). Berla’s process is solely to extract data from vehicle infotainment systems, including the GPS location data at issue here on appeal. The fact that the exact process or software interface is different for each type of vehicle is irrelevant where the same type of data is sought *and acquired* in each instance. Both Morgan and Restori emphasized that it is not a matter of whether the process extracts incorrect data from the infotainment system but rather whether the process is successful in getting the data at all. (*See* R. pp. 93–94, 109, 122–124). The Berla process merely reads data already stored on the infotainment device’s memory and then converts it into a readable format for law enforcement.

Next, Morgan and Restori both testified to various quality control measures to ensure data integrity. First, only qualified users are allowed to use the software, with Morgan in particular testifying to having to use a specific “key” to gain access to the software generally and to gain

access to specific data dumps—suggesting the software is likely protected from outside, malicious influence. (*See* R. pp. 84, 88–98, 280). Second, once data is downloaded and converted into a readable format, users like Morgan or Restori cannot make any changes or manipulations, with the exception of creating a “parse” report that merely limits what data is viewed based on a specific timeframe. Relatedly, Berla’s IVI software cannot manipulate or change any data stored on the infotainment device’s memory—it merely reads it and transmits it to the user’s laptop. (R. pp. 87–88, 110, 258, 270, 288).

Finally, the record thoroughly supports a finding that the Berla data extraction process comports with generally recognized scientific/technical laws and procedures. As discussed previously, the process is continually updated and maintained with the help of law enforcement agencies who use Berla’s product. Though Morgan nor Restori could identify any issues with the process they had dealt with themselves, it is clear that such a problem would be reported to Berla and rectified in order to improve and maintain their product. Further, the limited nature of the extraction process lends itself to a finding that Berla’s process follows standard technical laws and procedures. Their product simply reads pre-existing data, extracts it, and converts it into a readable format, very similar to Cellebrite’s process of dumping the contents of a cell phone. In the absence of a direct challenge to how the manufacturer of a specific infotainment system reads and stores data, it is hard to argue that Berla’s process does not comport with industry standards. Restori emphasized he could do the same data extraction as many times as he wants and it would produce the same data every time. That is reliability. *See Franks*, 432 S.C. at 76–77, 849 S.E.2d at 590 (trial court did not abuse discretion in finding substance of call records/CSLI expert testimony reliable).

Appellant’s speculative arguments that Berla’s process may be subject to unspecified malicious attack from unknown third parties fail to refute the soundness of the process—especially

when considering the other evidence of data integrity before the trial court. As to error rate, although not a specifically required factor to consider under *Council* and similar cases, both Morgan and Restori testified that they were not aware of any issues with the process here. Restori himself specifically told the trial court he was not aware of any error rate when directly questioned. (R. p. 124). While not the same as explicitly testifying as to a known error rate in terms of percentage or a direct number as a DNA scientist may testify to regarding a DNA analytical process, the answer given by both is about as far as any user of this technology could reasonably testify given the focused and technically limited nature of the Berla data extraction process. The mere fact that a technician or engineer from Berla could have testified to a possible error rate is irrelevant when the testimony by Morgan and Restori demonstrated to the trial court that in the vast majority of cases, the Berla process works and produces reliable evidence.

Accordingly, when considering all the relevant evidence as to each of the factors announced in *Council*, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the Berla data extraction process produced reliable and probative evidence. In finding so, the trial court also correctly recognized that the reliability of the data extraction process here was established through corroborating evidence outside of testimony regarding the process itself—especially with respect to location data—showing the movements of Appellant’s vehicle to and from Pennsylvania in the proximity of Victim’s death. To the extent Appellant argues that any expert testimony that relies on proprietary or secret source code should be deemed inherently unreliable, Respondent contends such an approach would grossly exceed the bounds of the tests established by our courts in assessing expert testimony. Not only are the central premises of the argument flawed, but the argument also seeks to strip trial courts of the discretion our supreme court has continually and consistently entrusted them with in the admission of evidence, expert testimony or any other

evidence for that matter. Accepting such an argument would displace the law of evidence and the deference entrusted to the trial court.

Furthermore, Appellant cannot show prejudice from the admission of said location data given the other overwhelming evidence of his guilt, including but not limited to (1) an intact fingerprint on the back door of Victim's house (the same door that was broken into), (2) threatening text messages sent to Victim from a phone used by Appellant (confirmed from law enforcement's interaction with Grandfather and Appellant), (3) suggestions of prior difficulty between Victim and Appellant (as testified to by one of Victim's friends and suggested by Victim's carrying of Appellant's unborn child while dating or co-parenting with another man), (4) Appellant initially claiming to law enforcement that he was never in Marion County but later changing his story, and (5) other evidence corroborating Appellant's movements in his vehicle such as the camera footage in Lake View showing Appellant driving towards Mullins and camera/ALPR footage showing Appellant's general course of travel from Pennsylvania to South Carolina on October 25th. Appellant makes no mention of these other major pieces of evidence in his brief.

Accordingly, any error in admitting the location data from the infotainment system in Appellant's vehicle would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. This Court should affirm.

II. The State agrees the trial court erred in sentencing Appellant to an additional five-year sentence under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by imposing a five-year sentence under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 when Appellant was also sentenced to life imprisonment for murder. The State agrees. Under Section (A) of the statute, the “five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime.”

There was no objection to the sentence, and the trial court had no opportunity to consider its error. (*See* R. p. 355). Under standard preservations rules, this would normally bar an issue from appellate review. *See, e.g., State v. Carmack*, 388 S.C. 190, 200, 694 S.E.2d 224, 229 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003)). However, in *State v. Plumer*, 439 S.C. 346, 887 S.E.2d 134 (2023), our Supreme Court considered whether an objection was required to reach such an issue and reasoned that an objection was not required to address an illegal sentence. Our Supreme Court determined that an “appellate court *may* correct that sentence on direct appeal *or remand* the issue to the trial court even if the defendant did not object to the sentence at trial[.]” *Id.* at 351, 887 S.E.2d at 137. This is so “even if there is no real threat of incarceration beyond the limits of a legal sentence,” which had been a condition precedent in prior cases to reach an unpreserved sentencing issue. *Id.* Consequently, the manner of treatment to effect correction of the sentence is in this Court’s discretion.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.